1988

Mont R. Anderson, Personal Representative of the
Estate of Cloyd H. Brinkerhoff, Lena Brinkerhoff,
and Mark J. Brinkerhoff v. Elsie Brinkerhoff, Golda B.
Adair, Warren Brinkerhoff, Arlene B. Goulding,
John Does I through V : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Does the evidence support a finding that Elsie Brinkerhoff has been incompetent since 1970, and if so, does the evidence support a finding that all documents signed by her thereafter should be canceled and declared to be null and void?

2. What is the legal effect of the fact that during the first day of trial, the court determined that the interests of Elsie Brinkerhoff were not being fully protected by her legal counsel, Willard R. Bishop, that she needed separate counsel to represent her interests, and that the court thereafter continued the trial without obtaining counsel to represent Elsie Brinkerhoff during the course of the trial?

3. Assuming the incompetency of Elsie Brinkerhoff in 1970, does the record support a finding that Elsie Brinkerhoff thereafter remained incompetent, including the years 1979, 1980 and 1982 when she signed documents of conveyance?

4. Did the 1966 contract terminate by operation of law, abandonment, rescission or mutual agreement by reason of the buyers' failure to make payments thereunder from 1966 through 1971 and thereafter executing documents of conveyance?

5. Does the fact that Plaintiffs failed to tender at the time of trial the \$30,000 that they acknowledged to be due and owing, prohibit the trial court from granting a Decree of Specific Performance under the contract and against an incompetent person.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal by Defendants/Appellants, Golda B. Adair, Warren Brinkerhoff and Arlene B. Goulding (hereinafter "Defendants") from a judgment rendered after a trial on the merits by the Honorable Don V. Tibbs, District Court Judge of the Sixth Judicial District Court in and for Kane County, State of Utah, dated February 20th, 1986. The judgment was in favor of Plaintiffs, Mont R. Anderson, Lena Brinkerhoff and Mark J. Brinkerhoff (hereinafter "Plaintiffs") and against Defendants specifically enforcing a 1966 contract and allowing Plaintiffs to make up past due payments of principal and interest in excess of \$50,000 of an original contract wherein the total purchase price was \$53,388, without interest. The judgment also voided all documents signed by Defendant Elsie Brinkerhoff, including those running in favor of Defendants.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

THE PARTIES

Plaintiff, Mont R. Anderson, is the personal representative of the estate of Cloyd H. Brinkerhoff, also known as "Tine" Brinkerhoff. He is the son-in-law of Plaintiff, Lena Brinkerhoff. He was also the accountant for the partnership consisting of Mark Brinkerhoff and Cloyd Brinkerhoff. Lena Brinkerhoff was married to Cloyd H. Brinkerhoff at the time of his death in October of 1979. Mark J. Brinkerhoff is the son of Elsie Brinkerhoff and the brother-

in-law of Lena Brinkerhoff. Elsie Brinkerhoff is the mother of Mark, Cloyd, Golda B. Adair, Warren ("Tink") Brinkerhoff, Arlene B. Goulding, Charles Brinkerhoff and Betty B. Esplin. Defendant, Golda B. Adair is married to Webster Adair. They are the parents of Brad Adair. Webster Adair and Plaintiff, Lena Brinkerhoff, are brother and sister.

THE PROPERTY IN QUESTION

The real property which is the subject of this action consists of 1,956.17 acres of grazing ground, and 18.01 acres of farm ground. The property is located north and east of Glendale, Kane County, Utah, and has been in the Brinkerhoff family for many years. At the time of trial the property had an appraised value of \$409,999. (Exhibit 37). Elsie Brinkerhoff received the property from the estate of her husband, Merle Brinkerhoff. The Brinkerhoff property also consists of some water rights in the Arizona Strip area and additional grazing and water rights.

FACTS

After Elsie Brinkerhoff received the property from her husband's estate, she entered into an agreement in 1966 between herself as the seller and her sons, Cloyd H. Brinkerhoff and Mark Brinkerhoff, as buyers. (Exhibit 1, attached). The contract was prepared by Ken Chamberlain, Attorney at Law, of Richfield, Utah. The contract requires the buyers (Mark and Cloyd) to pay to seller (Elsie) minimally the sum of \$53,388,

at the rate of \$2,000 per year for her life without interest and is an annuity contract based on the life expectancy of Elsie who was 65 years old at the time the contract was entered into. The contract required that an escrow be established and that deeds be deposited in the escrow. Only some of the deeds required by the 1966 contract were deposited into escrow, and the location or existence of all the original deeds was never established. The escrow, as per the agreement, was to be established in the Hurricane Branch of the Bank of St. George.

In the event of a default, the contract does not require the seller to provide notice to the buyer of the default, but simply allows the seller to demand a redelivery to her of all the escrow documents, thus requiring the buyer to vacate and peaceably surrender all of the property described in the contract, with all sums paid to date to be forfeited as liquidated damages. The contract only requires prior notice for a default of the contract other than payment of principal and interest, and in that event, the buyer has a thirty (30) day grace period. However, as to payment of principal and interest, no prior written notice to cure is required.

The contract also provides that the buyers are entitled to possession of the subject property only if they are in compliance with the terms of the agreement, including payment of principal and interest. (Exhibit 1).

Even though the contract was not signed until 1966, an

annual payment for both 1964 and 1965 was required under the contract. The trial court gave the buyers credit for these two annual payments inasmuch as the contract recites that the seller therein acknowledged payment of the same.

The court found that all payments were made outside the escrow and that payments should have been made from 1964 in the sum of \$2,000 per year. Including the 1985 payment, the court found that principal payments should have totaled \$44,000 (22 years at \$2,000 per year), and the court, even though the contract waives interest, assessed interest. The court found that from 1964 through trial, Plaintiffs had only paid \$14,996.75 of the \$44,000 which was due. Of the \$14,996.75 paid, \$4,000 was paid after the litigation was filed. (Findings of Fact, No. 9, attached, R. 633). The court found that payments were made as follows:

<u>Date Paid</u>	<u>Amount</u>	<u>Date Paid</u>	<u>Amount</u>
1964	\$ 2,000.00	1975	\$ 1,100.00
1965	2,000.00	1976	400.00
1966	-0-	1977	-0-
1967	-0-	1978	-0-
1968	-0-	1979	2,006.00
1969	-0-	1980	-0-
1970	-0-	1981	-0-
1971	-0-	1982	-0-
1972	1,210.75		
1973	1,780.00	SUBTOTAL:	\$ 10,996.85
1974	500.00		
		1983 (after litigation filed)	2,000.00
		1984 (after litigation filed)	2,000.00
			<u>2,000.00</u>
		TOTAL PAID AT TIME OF TRIAL:	\$ 14,996.75

The trial court found that Mark Brinkerhoff and the estate of Cloyd Brinkerhoff were indebted to their mother, Elsie Brinkerhoff, in the sum of \$50,262.95 including interest and allowed them to reinstate the contract upon payment of said amount. (Finding of Fact No. 13, R. 638).

From 1964 through 1977, Elsie should have been paid \$28,000. During that period of time, the court found that she was only paid \$8,990.75, or thirty-two (32%) percent of the amount the trial court found was due and owing. Of significance is the fact that in 1977, Cloyd deceived his mother and had her sign a receipt stating that she had received \$23,000 (Exhibit 4, attached), even though he knew in reality that less than one-third of the amount owed at that time had been paid. (Tr. 208-209). Cloyd was told by Mont Anderson, a Certified Public Accountant, that he needed evidence that payment in that amount had been made, presumably to insulate himself and Mark from attack by the Internal Revenue Service. (Tr. 208).

From 1966 through 1979, Mark and Cloyd operated as a partnership and have filed income tax returns as a partnership for that period of time. (Exhibits 26 and 39, Partnership Accounting Records; Tr. 96; 165). Cloyd died on October 14th, 1979 of a sudden heart attack.

Plaintiff Mont R. Anderson, is a Certified Public Accountant as well as the personal representative of the estate of Cloyd H. Brinkerhoff. Mr. Anderson tried to convince the

trial court that Plaintiffs should have received credit for \$38,012.34 (Tr. 166; Exhibit 22), under highly questionable accounting practice, but even assuming that amount of credit, he testified that the sum of \$15,000 was still past due and owing. At trial, Mark testified he owed his mother about \$30,000 but had never offered to pay her any amount toward the past due payments. (Tr. 90-91, Tr. 166-167). None of the Plaintiffs, prior to or at the time of trial, tendered to the court or Elsie Brinkerhoff any amount of arrearage, and specifically not the sum of \$30,000 that even Plaintiffs acknowledged was due and owing.

In 1979 Mont Anderson recommended that Cloyd consult with an attorney in Nevada to get his affairs in order (Tr. 221), and Cloyd consulted with a law firm in Las Vegas, Nevada where Plaintiff Mont Anderson, resides. At the same time, Mont R. Anderson, recommended to Cloyd that he obtain a deed for the subject property and get it recorded. (Tr. 220). Mark knew that Cloyd was having this legal work done. (Tr. 119).

Apparently, someone suggested to Cloyd that he have a joint tenancy deed prepared between his mother, himself and his brother, Mark, for the subject property. Some time prior to June of 1979, Cloyd contacted Brad Adair (Elsie's grandson) who was employed by Southern Utah Title Company in Kanab, Utah. Cloyd asked Brad Adair to prepare a deed for the subject property from Elsie as the grantor to Elsie, Cloyd, and Mark as

joint tenants. (Tr. 434-441). Brad complied with that request, took the deed to Elsie who signed the same and Brad notarized her signature. (Exhibit 5, attached). At the same time, Brad Adair also prepared another deed from Elsie to her son Charles, for property not related to the subject property. These two deeds were recorded one right after the other in the official records of Kane County, Utah. (Tr. 434-444; see also Exhibit 19, Entry Book, Recorder's Office, Kane County, Utah). The cost of \$18.00 to record the joint tenancy deed was paid by partnership funds (Exhibits 19 and 39; see discussion, infra). Mr. Adair also testified that he believed his grandmother, Elsie Brinkerhoff, was competent on June 4th, 1979 and likewise in 1980. (Tr. 447-448).

While Mark Brinkerhoff denied having knowledge of the preparation and recordation of the joint tenancy deed, it is obvious that both Cloyd and Mark were anticipating that their aged mother, Elsie, would predecease them and title would be vested in them as the surviving joint tenants. As sometimes happens, the events did not occur as anticipated, and on October 14th, 1979, just four months after the execution and recordation of the joint tenancy deed, Cloyd Brinkerhoff died of a sudden heart attack. Within three or four months after Cloyd's death in 1979, Elsie gave Mark a copy of the joint tenancy deed (Tr.118), but Mark took no action to have it set aside until 1982 when this lawsuit was filed naming him as a Defendant. In

1979 record title was vested in Elsie Brinkerhoff and Mark Brinkerhoff each with an undivided one-half interest.

At the beginning of trial and when he testified, Mark took the position that he was entitled to a one-half interest in the subject property either by reason of the joint tenancy deed, or the 1966 Contract of Sale. (Tr. 104; 131). He essentially had nothing to lose by taking that position. Of significance is the fact that Mark has always recognized the validity of the joint tenancy deed. It is evident that he and his sister-in-law, Lena Brinkerhoff, had trouble over the ownership of the property by reason of that claim. (Tr. 112). This is evidenced by the fact that in the original complaint, Lena brought suit against Mark J. Brinkerhoff, Elsie Brinkerhoff and the remaining children as named Defendants, to cancel the joint tenancy deed that Mark and the other family members were relying on. (R. 1-8 Complaint; R.351-370 Seconded Amended Complaint).

Both before and after Cloyd's death, it was evident to the other family members that their mother, Elsie Brinkerhoff, was not being paid the sum of \$2,000 per year, and that she had not been paid that amount for many years. (Tr. 276).

Some of the family members knew of the joint tenancy deed so after Cloyd's death, a family meeting was called. Since it was evident at that time that Elsie could not rely upon the \$2,000 annual payment she was supposed to be receiving from her

two eldest sons, Defendants Golda, Warren, Arlene, Charles and Betty talked with their mother and they decided upon a method whereby Elsie would be guaranteed a minimum sum per month to supplement her social security payment by selling her one-half interest to these five children. (Tr. 277; 288).

The five brothers and sisters agreed that they could each afford to pay Elsie \$30.00 per month, and Elsie would therefore receive the sum of \$150.00 per month, or \$1,800 per year, to supplement to her social security payment.

Brad Adair, at Southern Utah Title, was asked to research the status of the title of the subject property. (Tr. 445). He, of course, knew that the joint tenancy deed had been recorded in June of 1979, and confirmed that no other deeds were of record. He prepared an affidavit for Elsie to sign to sever the joint tenancy, which she did, and the joint tenancy was severed by the recordation of the affidavit and death certificate. However, the joint tenancy was not severed until August 15th, 1980, or ten months after the death of Cloyd Brinkerhoff. (Exhibit 21). Prior to the execution of any other documents, Brad Adair inquired of his grandmother as to whether or not she wanted to deed the other one-half interest to her five children. The following is an excerpt from his testimony

Q. MR. CHAMBERLAIN: Did you prepare the deed from your grandmother to the five children for her one-half interest?

A. MR. ADAIR: Yes, I did.

Q. And did you discuss that with your grandmother?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. And describe that discussion, if you will?

A. Well it took quite awhile for her to decide that this is the way she wanted to go, you know, so that she would get the money and the other five children would have something also, and so I did go ahead and prepare the document and the way I remember, I took them to my mother's home, I left them there, and I discussed this several times with my grandma.

Q. What did you discuss with grandma on these several occasions?

A. Well I told her what the effect of it would be, you know, and also that if the joint tenancy deed held and if she died Mark would have all the property and that, you know, under that she would be conveying her interest to the other five children, that in turn would receive \$30.00 a month each from the other five children.

Q. Did she appear to understand that transaction?

A. Yes she did.

Q. Did she at any time tell you she didn't want to deed her one-half interest?

A. No. (Tr. 446-447).

Elsie then executed a deed from herself to Golda, Warren, Arlene, Charles and Betty, each as to an undivided one-fifth interest for the one-half ownership she still maintained in the subject property. (Exhibit 6, attached). Mark Brinkerhoff, of course, owned the other one-half interest by reason of the 1979 joint tenancy deed.

At the request of these five children and with Elsie's understanding, Brad Adair also prepared a separate Trust Deed

Note for each to sign. These notes were for \$10,000 each, payable at the rate of \$30.00 per month and were secured by a Trust Deed on the property deeded by Elsie. The Trust Deed was signed by all five children evidencing a total obligation to Elsie in the sum of \$50,000. (Exhibit 7, Trust Deed and Exhibit 20, Trust Deed Note and Escrow Agreements). Each of these five children also signed an Escrow Agreement designating the Orderville Branch of State Bank of Southern Utah as the escrow depository to receive the \$30.00 per month payment from each child. The Trust Deed was thereafter recorded and the escrow established. Payments were made by the five children on a regular basis, and have been paid by Defendants, Golda Adair, Arlene B. Goulding, and Warren Brinkerhoff, each and every month since September 1980. (Exhibit 14, ledger sheet from State Bank of Southern Utah).

Since 1981 the taxes have been paid by both Plaintiffs and Defendants based on county ownership records and Mark specifically knew that he had been paying only one-half of the taxes and that his five brothers and sisters claimed ownership of one-half of the property. (Tr. 115).

Prior to Cloyd's death in 1979, the last payment made to Elsie on the 1966 contract was a \$400.00 payment in December of 1976. (Finding of Fact 9, R. 632). After Cloyd's death in October of 1979, Mark became concerned that the true facts would surface and it would become known that he had not been paying

his mother as promised, and Lena was apparently asking questions. In November of 1979, Mark deposited directly into his mother's account, the sum of \$706.00. (Exhibit 15).

On December 8, 1980, Mark tendered to Elsie a check in the sum of \$2,000, apparently in an attempt to reinstate the contract. This payment was refused by Elsie. (Tr. 81). On October 14,, 1981, Mark and Lena again tendered a check in the sum of \$2,000 to Elsie and that tender was likewise refused by Elsie. (Tr. 107, Exhibit 17). These payments were rejected by Elsie because she knew she had deeded her one-half interest in the property to her five children, that she was receiving money from them and that Mark already owned the other one-half interest in the property by reason of the joint tenancy deed and Cloyd's subsequent death. It only seems logical that Elsie felt the partnership operated by Mark and Cloyd was only entitled to a one-half interest in the property - they had paid far less than one-half of the payments due to her through 1980 (\$10,996.75 paid of \$28,000 due and owing).

On June 21st, 1982, an action was filed by Lena, against Elsie, Mark, and the five other brothers and sisters. On November 1st, 1982, Mark again tendered a check in the sum of \$2,000, but that payment was likewise refused by Hans Q. Chamberlain, who at that time represented Elsie Brinkerhoff.

After this litigation arose and an Answer and Counterclaim had been filed on their behalf, Charles Brinkerhoff and Betty

Esplin decided that in the interests of family harmony, they did not want to participate in the litigation. At that time they deeded their one-fifth interest of the one-half interest they received from Elsie, to Mark and Lena (Exhibits 9 and 10), who by that time had entered into an agreement between themselves to evidence a unified front.

Therefore, at the time of trial, the record title indicated that Mark owned a six-tenths interest, Lena a one-tenth interest, Golda a one-tenth interest, Arlene a one-tenth interest, and Warren a one-tenth interest.

Since Defendants claim that the trial court committed reversible error when it determined that Elsie Brinkerhoff has been incompetent since 1970, it is important for this court to understand how the issue of competency arose at the time of trial. As discussed in more detail, below, the issue of Elsie's competency was not raised by Plaintiffs in their complaint, amended complaint, discovery, or in the pretrial order prepared by Plaintiffs' counsel. Likewise, Defendants have always maintained that Elsie was competent until she signed a Stipulation on September 9th, 1984 when she was not represented by counsel. Likewise, in this appeal, Elsie Brinkerhoff is not represented by counsel. Even though the trial court appointed Kirk Heaton, Attorney at Law, Kanab, Utah, as the guardian of Elsie Brinkerhoff, he has apparently elected not to participate in this appeal on Elsie's behalf.

On the first day of trial, Elsie Brinkerhoff was called by Plaintiff, but not until Defendants' counsel cross-examined her did the court sua sponte, raise the issue of her incompetency.

On August 13, 1983, Elsie requested the undersigned, Hans Q. Chamberlain, who initially represented, to withdraw as her attorney of record as per a document prepared by Mark's son, Dale Brinkerhoff. (Exhibit 11). Said attorney did withdraw, and did not see Elsie again until her deposition was taken on February 11th, 1985, ten days prior to trial. Because the undersigned noticed a significant change in her mental condition at the time of deposition, and because she had signed a Stipulation prepared when she was unrepresented by counsel on September 9th, 1984, the following dialogue took place at the time of trial:

Q. MR. CHAMBERLAIN: Now before we go to that, let me just ask you a couple of these questions; are you represented by an attorney in this case?

A. ELSIE BRINKERHOFF: No.

Q. You're not?

A. No.

Q. Alright.

A. I never had to have an attorney for anything.

Q. Were you represented by me on one occasion?

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