1988

Mont R. Anderson, Personal Representative of the
Estate of Cloyd H. Brinkerhoff, Lena Brinkerhoff,
and Mark J. Brinkerhoff v. Elsie Brinkerhoff, Golda
B. Adair, Warren Brinkerhoff, Arlene B. Goulding,
John Does I through V : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

**THE JUDGMENT OF THE TRIAL COURT IS PROPERLY
WITHIN THE BOUNDS OF THE LAW AND HAS ACHIEVED
EQUITABLE RESULTS IN DISTRIBUTING THE SUBJECT
PROPERTY.**

All of the facts and circumstances surrounding the above-entitled action indicate that the trial court's First Amended Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and First Amended Judgment have achieved results which are clearly within the powers

of the Court, are in the best interests of all parties, and should not be overturned on appeal.

In matters requiring the trial court to exercise its powers of equity, such as specific performance of contractual obligations in the present case, the Utah Supreme Court has ruled that great deference should be accorded the trial court. In Tanner vs. Bandsgaard, 612 P.2d 345 (Utah 1980), a case substantially similar to the present, the high court stated:

As is so often true in such controversies, there is sharp conflict in the evidence as to material and controlling facts. Notwithstanding the correctness of Defendants' urgency that this Court may review the evidence because it is a case in equity, it is our well-established rule that due to the prerogatives and advantaged position of the trial judge, we indulge considerable deference to his findings. Where evidence is in dispute, we assume that he believed that which is favorable to his findings, and we do not disturb them unless it clearly preponderates to the contrary.

Id. at 346.

Appellants' statement of factss does not comply with this rule and is really an argument by them, not the facts as found by the trial court or as they support the lower court's findings and rulings.

Furthermore, Utah law grants a preference to the court's powers of equity whenever the same come into conflict with inconsistent provisions in the common law:

Whenever there is any variance between the rules of equity and the rules of common law in reference to the same matter the rules of equity shall prevail.

Utah Code Annotated, 68-3-2 (1953, as amended).

In the present case Plaintiffs have successfully sought to reassure their position under a contract entered in 1966 between a mother and her two sons. The original purpose of the contract was to provide for the material well-being of Elsie Brinkerhoff throughout the remaining days of her life. All parties to this action were aware of the initial arrangements and for many years expressed no dissatisfaction with the manner in which business was transacted between Elsie and her two sons. At no time under the 1966 contract has Elsie ever wanted for the necessities or desires of her life. In fact, to this very day Elsie continues to express her desire that the contract remain in force, a position entirely consistent with the trial court's Judgment and the desires of all parties to the original contract. (TR 295-307; 359:9-15; Exhibits P-11 and P-40)

Any conclusion other than that reached by the trial court would frustrate the intent of the parties and work an injustice upon Elsie Brinkerhoff, as well as Plaintiffs, in this action. Plaintiffs stood ready to fully perform the obligations placed upon them by the trial court in making up any deficits in their performance, and paid the full amount found due by the Court. (R.611, R.670; Notice of Payment; Receipt of Funds and Initial Inventory, and R.663, Notice of Final Payment TR 126:7-10; 144:6-17) In fact, Plaintiffs have paid the entire remaining unpaid balance, as found by the Court, into trust for Elsie as ordered by the Court in order to assure that she is well provided for during the remaining days of her life.

Defendants, on the other hand, seek to abrogate all of the rights and interest Elsie has to receive payment under the 1966 contract and substitute their own 1981 agreements. The result of such actions would have the effect of leaving Elsie without the funds to which she is entitled and has received under the contract, which funds are hers. As a replacement, Defendants propose to pay a lesser amount over a period extending the rest of Elsie's natural life. Defendants would then become the owners of land which they have never used or worked in recent years and for which they had no interest or concern at the time of the original 1966 agreement. All such arrangements would be made to the distinct and unconscionable disadvantage of the Plaintiffs and Elsie Brinkerhoff.

The remainder of this brief will indicate that on the facts and on the merits of the law the trial court achieved a just and equitable result which is clearly within the recognized limits of its jurisdiction.

POINT II

THE 1966 CONTRACT ENTERED BETWEEN ELSIE AND HER TWO SONS, CLOYD AND MARK, HAS REMAINED A VALID CONTRACT FROM ITS EXECUTION TO THE PRESENT.

The trial court specifically found that the contract entered between Elsie Brinkerhoff and her two sons, Mark and Cloyd, was the result of arms' length bargaining conducted with the advice of counsel by fully competent parties. (R. 629, F. of F. No. 4). Furthermore, Appellants make no claim and present no evidence to the contrary. In fact, all parties to the contract continue to

recognize its validity and existence. Appellants, non-parties to the contract, are the only ones who fail to recognize the binding nature of the contract's provisions.

The facts and evidence presented at trial have given no indication that Elsie, as seller of the subject property, acted in any manner, either under the contract or by law, which would operate to terminate the contract. The contractual terms pertaining to default and termination are as follows:

In the event of a default in the payment of any installment of principal or interest and in the event of a default in any other term or condition herein and in the event notice of a default other than for payment of principal and interest shall be given to buyers by the seller and a subsequent failure to remedy the same shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days, then the seller may at her option demand a redelivery to her of all of the escrowed documents...

(Exhibits P-1, P-2)

These provisions, while somewhat ambiguous as to the circumstances under which notice will be required, clearly demonstrate that action is required on the part of the seller before the contract will be considered in default. Whether notice is required or not, seller must exercise her option to "demand a redelivery to her of all of the escrowed documents," as an indication that she considered the buyers to be in default. At no time has Elsie Brinkerhoff ever made such a demand, or anything akin thereto, upon Mark or Cloyd. (TR 295-307; R.633, F. of F. 11)

The contract also provides for alternative remedies such as reducing the agreement to judgment or foreclosing as a mortgage.

All of these alternatives require definite action on the part of the seller prior to any action buy seller. (Exhibits P-1, P-2)

Forfeitures under installment land sales contracts have long been disfavored under the law. The Utah Supreme Court has held that affirmative action is required to exercise the forfeiture option. Fuhriman v. Bissenger, 375 P.2d 27 (Utah 1962); see also, Tanner, supra at 346; and Hansen v. Christensen, 545 P.2d 1152, 1154 (Utah 1976). Elsie never did take any action to terminate the contract, and in fact, has always recognized its validity. (Exhibits P-11, P-40; TR 359:9-15; 295-307; 367:12-25)

A. At no time did Elsie Brinkerhoff give her two sons notice that she considered them to be in default of their obligations under the contract.

The facts and circumstances surrounding execution and performance under the 1966 contract clearly demonstrate the importance and necessity of requiring notice prior to declaring default. The written contract in this instance was the mere formalization of a relationship that had existed since the death of Merle Brinkerhoff, Elsie's husband, two years earlier. Since that time Mark and Cloyd had been in possession of the real property and were in the process of farming the land and grazing sheep thereon. In addition, the two sons were caring for their mother's needs by seeing that her bills were paid, as well as making annual payments of \$2,000.00. (TR 64-68; Exhibits P-1, P-2)

When the contract was executed, the parties' mode of operation was altered very little. It is true that documents were

signed with all the specificities enumerated above, but the history surrounding the execution clearly indicates that the parties had no intention of demanding exact compliance. For many years thereafter, even to the present day, Mark and Cloyd continued to care for their mother's needs. Elsie was never dissatisfied with their performance and never requested anything from her boys that was not forthcoming. (TR 295-307)

These facts demonstrate that none of the parties to the 1966 contract believed that Mark and Cloyd were in default. Without notice it would have been impossible to know at what point Elsie considered her sons to be in default of their obligations, or, if they were, what remedy she might choose. In a case with facts very similar to the present the Utah Supreme Court has exacted a requirement that notice be given. In Morris v. Sykes, 624 P.2d 681 (Utah 1981), the Plaintiff had made a down payment on the purchase price of certain real property, but the monthly and periodic payments were made sporadically, and in amounts different than called for by the contract. Nevertheless, the Court required the defendant to supply notice of default prior to reselling the same property to a third party.

In the present case, a long history of accepting payments other than those specifically required by the contract was in evidence. This Court should reach a conclusion which is in accordance with reason and the Morris case noted above by finding that the 1966 contract is still in effect and that termination requires that the buyers be given notice and an opportunity to cure their default prior to suffering an unjust forfeiture. As

shown by the record, when given an amount due by the trial court, it was forthwith paid in full.

It is evident that the contract itself anticipates the necessity of notice under circumstances where the buyers would not have knowledge of their default, or of any remedy chosen by the seller. The contract specifies that default for circumstances other than payment of principal and interest requires notice. These provisions allow the buyers to respond prior to incurring forfeiture. Mark and Cloyd Brinkerhoff or their successors in interest should be granted no less opportunity.

B. Utah law requires that a seller allow a reasonable period of time for buyers to cure their breach prior to enforcing the forfeiture clause provisions of installment land sales contracts.

As noted above, Utah law is clearly hostile to allowing forfeiture under installment land sales contracts. The Court has reached this conclusion despite specific contractual provisions calling for forfeiture and treating all earlier payments as liquidated damages. Call v. Timber Lakes Corp., 567 P.2d 1108 (Utah 1977).

In order to avoid the harsh results of forfeiture, sellers are required to allow a reasonable time in which buyers can cure their defaults:

It can be seen that the provisions of the contract, designed to terminate contractual relations, are not self-executing. They require some affirmative act on the part of the seller. Therefore, the contractual relations between seller and buyer are in existence until such time as the seller chooses to notify the defaulting buyer of its election to proceed under one, or all, of its options. In so doing, seller must give the

defaulting buyer a reasonable time within which to cure the default. Without this notice the defaulting buyer would not know what to do. He would not have certain knowledge his tenancy was at an end. He could assume the seller may have waived default, or would elect to enforce the contract rather than forfeit it; or he could assume he would be permitted to perform. (Emphasis supplied.)

Hansen, supra at 1154. The Court has held this rule "especially applicable" in cases where the default has been overlooked for substantial periods of time. Lamont v. Eyjen, 508 P.2d 532, 534 (Utah 1973).

In the present case it has never been shown that seller was dissatisfied with buyers performance under the contract. For this reason no notice and no period for cure has ever been accorded buyers under the contract. To enforce the forfeiture provisions would work a double injustice. Buyers would lose the land and seller would lose the funds which she has received. All of this would be accomplished under Appellants' supposed concern for Elsie's well-being.

C. Elsie Brinkerhoff as seller under the 1966 contract waived her right to demand strict compliance with the contract's installment payment terms without giving prior notice.

The contract doctrine of waiver has been defined in the following manner:

[T]he voluntary and intentional relinquishment of a known right [which] may be either express or implied. Waiver can be implied from conduct such as making payments for or accepting performance which does not meet contract requirements; waiver can also be expressed verbally or in writing. Express waiver, when supported by reliance thereon, excuses non-performance of the waived condition.

Udevco, Inc. v. Wagner, 678 P.2d 679, 682 (Nev. 1984).

The evidence clearly demonstrates that Elsie Brinkerhoff waived strict compliance with the payment terms under the 1966 contract. Elsie never demanded, nor expected, more from her boys than that which was immediately forthcoming. Her desires were simply that some of her bills be paid and money be given when she found herself in need. Indeed on some occasions when funds were tendered, Elsie rejected them along with a declaration that there was no need. Such declarations may rise to the level of express waiver, but at the very least Elsie's conduct impliedly waived the necessity of complying with strict payment requirements. (TR 295-307)

The only way Elsie's waiver could be overcome and strict compliance demanded is through notice of her intention to do the same. Such a requirement is readily understood in cases considering forfeiture under installment land sales contract provisions.

Most litigation in this area concerns itself with failure to make timely payments under a land contract...In order to establish a prima facie case of waiver, the vendee must show that the vendor has condoned or assented to previous defaults and has not given notice of his intention to insist on strict compliance in the future.

Angus Hunt Ranch, Inc. v. Reb, Inc., 577 P.2d 645, 650 (Wyo. 1978). Furthermore, because forfeitures are not favored under the law it has been held that "slight evidence" of the intention to relinquish a right is sufficient to warrant the finding of waiver. *Id.* at 650.

In the present case the evidence is overwhelmingly in favor of finding a waiver. Therefore, the 1966 contract should be upheld and the judgment of the trial court sustained.

D. There is no indication that the parties to the 1966 contract ever intended to abandon all of their rights and obligations thereunder.

Appellants contend that Elsie Brinkerhoff and her two sons, Mark and Cloyd, had abandoned their 1966 contract at the time Elsie signed later documents transferring a partial interest in the subject property to them. The contention is, nevertheless, unfounded in the facts and under the law.

The term "abandonment" in the sense involved here means the intentional relinquishment of one's rights in the contract; and in order to nullify such rights, there must be a clear and unequivocal showing of such abandonment. Where there is dispute as to whether this has occurred, it is usually a question of fact, to be determined from the circumstances of the particular case, which include not only nonperformance, but also expressions of intent and other actions of the parties.

Timpanogos Highlands, Inc., v. Harper, 544 P.2d 481, 484 (Utah 1975). Furthermore, on questions of abandonment reversal should not be granted unless the evidence "clearly preponderates" against the findings. Id. at 484.

While it is true that the Supreme Court in Timpanogos Highlands found the contract had been abandoned, it is also true that the facts in the present case are clearly distinguishable. In Timpanogos Highlands buyers had been making sporadic payments on their land purchase when seller leased the same property for a ten year period to a third party. The Court upheld the decision for abandonment of the contract. Timpanogos Highlands is

distinguishable in that buyers had never entered into possession or used the property in any way, other than with Plaintiffs' permission, nor did they pay the taxes thereon. Furthermore, the parties had been in continual negotiations concerning buyer's failure to make adequate payments under the contract, none of which is true under the present case. Here, as soon as Appellants' claims were discovered, suit was filed.

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